IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

---

No. 2008-KA-00433-COA

---

BARRY WRIGHT

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF  
MONROE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

---

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

---

KELLY L. MIMS, MBN [REDACTED]  
MIMS & LOGAN, LLC  
POST OFFICE BOX 826  
TUPELO, MS 38802-0826  
PH: (662) 840-4900  
FX: (662) 840-4449  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

---

No. 2008-KA-00433-COA

---

BARRY WRIGHT

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT DENIED WRIGHT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY?
- II. DID WRIGHT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASISTANCE FROM TRIAL COUNSEL?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING WRIGHT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT OR, ALTERNATIVELY, A NEW TRIAL?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### ***The Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings:***

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court for the First Judicial District of Monroe County. Barry R. Wright, the Defendant below and the Appellant herein, was charged by way of a Monroe County felony indictment filed on February 2, 2005, of fondling of a child under the age of 14 on or about the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of March, 2004. Four years later, on the 25<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2008, the case went to trial before the Honorable Judge Paul S. Funderburk in the Monroe County Circuit Court located in Aberdeen, MS. On the 28<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2008, a Monroe County jury found the Defendant guilty of fondling and on the next day, the trial judge sentenced the Defendant to a term of Fifteen (15) Years with Ten (10) Years suspended and five (5) years to serve in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. On March 4<sup>th</sup>, 2008, the Defendant filed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal JNOV or in the Alternative a New Trial and a Motion to Reconsider Sentence, which was denied. It is from said conviction and sentence that Barry Wright now appeals.

### ***Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for review***

In March of 2004, Barry Wright resided at 50039 Sink Road in Becker Community in Monroe County Mississippi, with his former wife, Lisa Wright and his step children, Brittany and Jordan Brummitt. (T. 296) On or about the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of March, 2004, the alleged victim in this case Morgan Fears, the niece of his ex-wife, was spending the night at his home on Sink Road along with the rest of the family. (T. 298) Testimony shows that sometime during the night, Barry laid down in the same bed with Brittany and Morgan in order to help get them asleep. (T. 298, 310) That some time

during the night in question, Morgan Fears rose up, got out of bed and walked into her Aunt Lisa's room where she informed her of an alleged incident with Barry touching her chest. (T. 316) That Lisa then proceeded to go into Brittany's room, where she aroused Barry and confronted him about the incident. (T. 316) That Barry denied any intentional actions towards the child by explaining he had been asleep and "well, if I have, it was purely accidental, and I did not know that I had done that. (T. 299)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In February of 2008, Barry Wright had an opportunity in a Court of Law to face his accusers and assert his innocence before a jury of his peers. However, at the conclusion of this process, the Defendant believes that certain failures of his attorney and the Trial Court may have deprived him of the right to a fair trial. The Court allowed and the Defendant's attorney failed to object to the inclusion on the jury a friend and fellow church member of the victim in this case. He also failed to properly discover an alibi exhibit to the State resulting in this key piece of evidence being refused for admission at trial. If not for the Defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel, the outcome of the trial may have been very different.

The Defendant's motion for JNOV should have been granted or in the alternative the Defendant should have been given a new trial. The State never proved the final prong of the elements of the crime of fondling as found in Section 97-5-23 of the Mississippi Code Annotated. The State relied on conjecture by the Jury to place the requisite intent in order to prove the "purpose of gratifying his lust or indulging his depraved licentious sexual desires." The decision by the Jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and for these reasons, the Defendant requests that his conviction be overturned and he be granted a new trial.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT DENIED WRIGHT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.**

During Voir Dire by the Trial Court, Juror Number 2, John Michael Shannon, self identified that he attended the same church as the victim and her mother. (T. 90) The Court questioned the juror about his ability to be fair and impartial, in which the juror replied that he could be "unbiased." (T. 91) No further questions were asked of this juror. Later, during the proceedings to strike jurors for cause, multiple potential jurors were discussed by the Defense and the Court, some of which were stricken for cause by the Court for various reasons including prior relationships with the State's witnesses. (T. 122-129) However, the Defendant's attorney, Mr. Ervin, failed to bring up for challenge Juror Number 2 and his relationship with the victim and her mother. This juror, who admitted to attending church services with the victim and her family, was allowed to be seated on the Jury without any objection by the Defense. In the recent case of McGregory v. State, the Court espoused the standard for an appellate court to consider whether or not a member of the jury was improperly seated.

The proper standard for excluding a venire member from the jury is to determine whether the "juror's views would 'prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and oath.' " Davis v. State, 660 So.2d 1228, 1244 (Miss.1995) (quoting Balfour v. State, 598 So.2d 731, 755 (Miss.1992)). This standard does not require that a potential juror's bias be proven with "unmistakable clarity." Id. Because of the trial judge's ability to see and hear the potential juror's

responses during voir dire, he is in a much better position to determine whether or not the potential juror should be struck for cause. Taylor v. State, 672 So.2d 1246, 1264 (Miss.1996). Thus, the “determination of whether a juror is fair and impartial is a judicial question.” Id. Unless the decision to seat a particular jury is clearly wrong, then this Court will not disturb that decision. Id. Further, we must keep “in mind that jurors take their oaths seriously, and this promise [of fairness and impartiality] is entitled to considerable deference.” McDonald v. State, 921 So.2d 353, 357(¶ 15) (Miss.Ct.App.2005). McGregory v. State, 979 So. 2d 12, (Miss.App.2008)

The Court showed through other challenges, such as the case with Juror Number 49 where the juror knew the victim’s father, that he would strike them for cause saying, “I know that he said he could be - - that would not influence him, but I’m not going to put him in that position where he would be influenced.” (T. 128-129) The Court should have stricken this juror for cause, much like the similar jurors. Even though, the Defendant’s attorney failed his client by not asking for Juror Number 2 to be struck for cause or by not using one of his available peremptory challenges on the juror, the Court should have known from his prior answers of the potential for this juror to be unduly influenced by this prior relationship. It is common knowledge that church association lends credibility to a witness and victim. Juror Number 2 having been seated on this Jury, having such a relationship with the victim and her family, casts doubt on the jury selection and subsequent verdict reached by that body.

## II. DID WRIGHT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE FROM TRIAL COUNSEL?

“There is a two part test for ineffective assistance of counsel from Strickland v. Washington, 446 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Under Strickland, a

Defendant must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss.1985). There is a strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's decisions were sound trial strategy. Id. at 969. To overcome the presumption, the defendant must show that but for counsel's deficiency, a different result would have occurred. Id. at 968. The reviewing court must examine the totality of the circumstances. McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990).

The Supreme Court established the procedure for addressing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal in Read v. State, 430 So.2d 832, 841 (Miss.1983). This Court reiterated this procedure in Colenburg v. State, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102(¶ 5) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). In order for the appellate court to review a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, the record must affirmatively show that the defendant has been denied effective assistance of counsel. If the record does not affirmatively demonstrate that the defendant has been denied effective assistance of counsel, this Court should proceed to decide the case on other issues. Read, 430 So.2d at 841. If the case is reversed on other grounds, the ineffective assistance claim is moot. Id. If the case should be otherwise affirmed, we do so without prejudice to the defendant's rights to raise the ineffective assistance of counsel claim via post-conviction proceedings. Id. McGregory v. State, 979 So. 2d 12, (Miss.App.2008)

The defense counsel in this case was the Honorable Tim Ervin. Mr. Ervin, a former Chancellor, is a well respected attorney practicing in North Mississippi. (T. 119) The Defendant, however, feels that on this case, his counsel was ineffective for several reasons.

*A. Failure to object during jury selection to a sympathetic potential juror.*

The circumstances of Juror Number 2 arriving to the jury panel for this trial were discussed at length in a previous paragraph, so they will not be repeated here. However, the Court may decide to relieve the Trial Court of any error since the attorney

for the defendant never raised to strike Juror Number 2 either for cause nor with a peremptory strike. That failing to properly object to the inclusion of this juror using any means available to the Defense, constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. The defense was present, heard the admissions of association by the juror and heard the Court strike other jurors for similar reasons, yet remained silent when the opportunity presented itself. The Defendant was greatly prejudiced by the inactions of his defense counsel in this case and if not for that ineffective assistance of counsel another outcome may have occurred.

*B. Failure to conduct proper reciprocal discovery, have introduced into evidence an alibi exhibit and make an offer of proof for the record.*

During the direct examination of the Defendant, Mr. Ervin asked the Defendant the following questions:

Q. All right, sir. And I'll ask you first, where were you on the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of March, 2004. (T. 297)

A. Augusta, Georgia.

Q. How do you know you were in Augusta, Georgia?

A. From my daily log book, sir.

Q. Alright, sir. Do you have that with you?

A. Yes, sir.

**MR. ERVIN:** Let me show it to counsel opposite, please sir.

**MR. BAKER:** Your Honor, may we approach?

**THE COURT:** Yes, sir.

**(DISCUSSION HELD AT BENCH OUTSIDE HEARING OF THE COURT REPORTER.)**

**MR. ERVIN:** May I proceed, your Honor?

**THE COURT:** You may.

The Defendant had in his possession a log book showing official records that he was

out of the State during the night the prosecution said that he was in Mississippi. (T. 138, 165, 176, 193, 219, 266) However, due to the ineffective assistance of counsel, this evidence was not properly discovered to the State and, thus, the resulting ruling by the Court, made outside the presence of the court reporter, was that the log book was inadmissible. After this side bar conversation, Mr. Ervin completely dropped this theory of the defense and proceeded to try to show reasonable doubt through other means. Because he did not take the time to make an offer of proof of this evidence for the record, this Court does not have the opportunity to examine the impact this evidence would have had on the outcome of this trial. The ironic truth of this situation is that this evidence was proof that the Defendant was, in fact, not in the State of Mississippi the night of the 22<sup>nd</sup> of March, 2004. He was, in fact, in Georgia that night. The District Attorney that indicted this crime placed the date of the crime correctly on the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of March 2004. The events discussed at trial actually occurred on the night of the 21<sup>st</sup> and the alleged crime occurred during the early morning hours of the 22<sup>nd</sup>, thereby necessitating the correct date of March 22<sup>nd</sup>, 2004 in the indictment. Neither trial counsel for the State nor the Defense picked up on the fact that every single witness by the State was asked an incorrect statement about "the night of the 22<sup>nd</sup>." (Id.) The defense counsel at the close of the State's case, had all of the State's witnesses testifying to a period of time in which the Defense could have shown where he was in Georgia. Due to the ineffective assistance of counsel, this theory of the defense was abandoned when the Court denied the exhibit and Mr. Ervin went on to other things.

The trial court suppressed this evidence from what we can see in the transcript. It is obvious that a piece of evidence that can help prove the theory of the defense that the Defendant was out of the State on the evening of the crime would be material. In the Malone case, the Court found that if the information is material "its suppression undermines the confidence of the outcome of the trial," and if that information has been suppressed, then the judgment must be vacated and a new trial granted. Malone v.

State, 486 So.2d 367, 369 (Miss.1986). This material fact was suppressed due to the ineffective assistance of counsel and an entire theory of the defense was abandoned. If the Jury had been allowed to hear evidence of the defendants true whereabouts that night, it could of cast the shadow of reasonable doubt and likely would of led to a different conclusion.

**III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING WRIGHT'S MOTION DIRECTED VERDICT, (286) FOR JUDGEMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT OR, ALTERNATIVELY, A NEW TRIAL?**

A motion for JNOV challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence. McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). A reviewing court must consider as true all credible evidence consistent with the defendant's guilt, and the State must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Id. This Court may only reverse where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 803, 808 (Miss.1987).

The trial court should only grant a new trial motion when the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Wetz, 503 So.2d at 812. The Court, on appeal, will reverse and order a new trial only upon a determination that the trial court abused its discretion, accepting as true all evidence favorable to the state. Id. The standard of review for a denial of a directed verdict and a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV) are the same. Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 787 (Miss. 1997). A motion for JNOV and a motion for a directed verdict both challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence. McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993).

The Supreme Court has held that a new trial will not be given unless the verdict is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that an unconscionable injustice

would occur by allowing the verdict to stand. Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983). However, if a jury verdict is determined to be against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, then the remedy is to grant a new trial. Collier v. State, 711 So.2d 458, 461 (Miss. 1998).

In the case at hand, the State failed to meet their burden of proof and the Trial Court should have sustained the Defendant's motion for directed verdict and/or their motion for Judgment Acquittal JNOV or in the Alternative a New Trial, which was submitted at the close of the State's case and at the close of the trial. A jury could not find beyond a reasonable doubt that the fondling, as described in the indictment against Barry Wright, ever took place or that the facts are such that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The indictment of the Monroe County Circuit Court Cause No. CR 05-012 against the Defendant Barry Wright, reads as follows:

That

**BARRY RAY WRIGHT**

In said County and State on the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of March, AD., 2004, being a person above the age of eighteen (18) and whose date of birth is the 13<sup>th</sup> day of April 1962, did willfully, unlawfully and feloniously, for the purpose of gratifying his lust or indulging his depraved licentious sexual desires, handle, touch or rub with his hands or other parts of his body, the breast of Morgan Fears, whose date of birth is the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of December 1992, a child under the age of fourteen (14) years; contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi. (R. 11)

The indictment, based on Section 97-5-23 of the Mississippi Code, clearly indicates one of the elements of this crime is an act of intent must have occurred by the Defendant. 97-5-23, Miss Code Ann. The evidence must have been such that a reasonable jury

could have concluded that Barry Wright did the act for the “purpose of gratifying his lust or indulging his depraved licentious sexual desires.” The State’s case was noticeably absent of any evidence that led a reasonable juror to conclude that Barry Wright had lustful or indulging purposes when this act occurred. In fact, only during the closing arguments by the State, was the element of intent ever brought to the attention of the Jury, when Mr. Gault said,

“Ladies and gentlemen, it must be shown that the defendant did this to indulge his depraved sexual desires or his lusts. I ask you why else would you do that? Because it was intentional. So I ask why else? No other reason. It was, in fact, for his indulgence. He knew exactly what he was doing. Barry Wright knew exactly what he was doing when he reached across his stepdaughter, when he reached down Morgan Fears’ shirt, under her bra and rubbed her breasts. He knew exactly what he was doing.” (T. 349)

None of the State’s actual witnesses commented on the purpose of the contact by the Defendant on the victim. Most of the evidence that came close to the subject broached on the topic of accidental vs. intentional touching and not for what purpose, if any, the Defendant touched the victim. The Defendant admitted that he did not know whether or not he touched the victim since he was asleep at the time of the occurrence. (T. 317) Therefore according to Mr. Gault’s closing argument, if the Jury believes that he intended to touch her breast, the remaining elements of the crime are simply understood. (Id.) The Jury was left with a very easy decision. If they believed the Defendant touched the victim’s breast, even though there was no actual evidence that he did it for lustful or lascivious purposes, the Defendant must have done it for an evil purpose.

In the Bradford case the Court said,

... we are of the opinion that there must be evidence of some nature that is probative on the issue; otherwise, every demonstration of affection or playful act directed by an adult toward a child would expose the adult to potential criminal charges, the outcome of which would depend solely on the jury's unsubstantiated subjective assessment of the purposes of the encounter. Certainly, such evidence could arise from a description of the circumstances of the encounter itself. For example, touching in inappropriate parts of the child's body, overly demonstrative acts of affection, events occurring when the child is not fully clothed, or some evidence of sexual arousal by the defendant during the encounter, might be sufficient to permit the jury to draw a reasonable inference as to the improper purpose of the defendant's act. We do not intend, by the foregoing, to exhaust the possibilities of the avenues of proof available to the State. We only mean to demonstrate that a jury's determination of the motivation underlying a defendant's actions in regard to physical contact with children must be based upon something other than pure conjecture.