### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**BARRY WRIGHT** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0433

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

).

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Wright was not denied a fair and impartial jury. First, he is procedurally barred from taking issue with the juror in question as he did not attempt to strike him for cause nor did he attempt to use a peremptory strike against him. Procedural bar notwithstanding, the juror was properly allowed on the panel, in part because he indicated that he would decide the case based on the law and evidence.

Wright was not denied effective assistance of counsel as he wholly failed to establish how the alleged deficiencies prejudiced his case. Additionally, there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict and the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. WRIGHT WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.

Wright first argues that "Juror Number 2 having been seated on this Jury, having such a relationship with the victim and her family, casts doubt on the jury selection and subsequent verdict reached by that body." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). Wright is, however, procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal as he did not attempt to strike Juror 2 nor did he use one of his peremptory strikes against him. *See Archer v. State*, 986 So.2d 951, 958 (Miss. 2008).

Regardless of the bar, Wright's argument is without merit. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held the following with regard to this issue:

The trial judge whose duty is to see that a competent, fair, and impartial jury is empaneled, is empowered with broad discretion to determine whether a prospective juror can be fair and impartial - notwithstanding the juror's admission under oath that he or she will be. (citations omitted). This Court recognizes that the trial judge is in the best position to determine whether the jury as selected was fair and impartial, and therefore yields to a trial court's discretionary finding that a competent jury, under its oath to be fair and impartial, was empaneled to render judgment, and will not reverse absent clear abuse of that discretion. (citations omitted).

Archer, 986 So.2d at 958 - 959. During the trial court's voir dire of the potential jurors, the court asked whether anyone was related to or friends with any of the potential witnesses and the following exchange took place:

- A: There is one other also. You said Angela Fears?
- Q; Yes
- A: I am acquainted with her and have been for about a year. She periodically attends our church. I know who she is, but I'm not a close personal friend, but you need to know I am aware of who that person is.
- Q: All right. Mr. Shannon, that's exactly the type of response we are need from each of the jurors, information about any type of knowledge or relationship. As far as Angela Fears, you've met her at church, I take it?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: And does she attend church with you at the present time, your church?
- A: Yes, sir.
- O: Does her daughter [Victim] attend with her, to your knowledge?

- A: I am not familiar with her at all.
- Q: Okay. Is there anything about the fact that Ms. Fears attends the same church that you do that would influence your decision one way or the other in this case either for or against the position she may take?
- A: No, sir.
- Q: Mr. Shannon, are you telling the Court that you can set aside your knowledge of Ms. Fears, that you could decide this case based solely on the law and the evidence, and the fact that you attend church with her will not enter into your decision one way or the other?
- A: That wouldn't be practical, no sir. I can be unbiased.
- Q: Thank you, sir.

(Transcript p. 89 - 91). This juror unequivocally stated that he would decide the case based on the law and evidence and that he could be unbiased. This Court has previously held that "jurors take their oaths seriously, and this promise is entitled considerable deference." *McDonald v. State*, 921 So.2d 353, 357 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In a later case, this Court also held that "when a circuit court declines to excuse a juror after that juror responded that he or she would be able to serve impartially, despite circumstances that raise some question of bias, we defer to the circuit court's discretion." Havard v. State, 986 So.2d 333, 336 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Furthermore, "mere acquaintance or even family relationships with parties or those related to parties is not sufficient to require that a juror be excused for cause." *Archer*, 986 So.2d at 957 (quoting *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836, 846 (Miss. 1998)) (*emphasis added*).

As such, even if this issue were not procedurally barred, it was not reversible error for the trial judge to allow this juror on the panel as he clearly indicated that he merely knew the mother of the victim, was not a close personal friend of the mother of the victim, was not familiar with the victim at all, and, most importantly, indicated that he would decide the case based on the law and evidence. Thus, this issue is without merit.

#### II. WRIGHT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

While a defendant may raise the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, "this Court may determine the merits of the claim only when '(a) ... the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (b) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate and the Court determines that findings of fact by the trial judge able to consider the demeanor of witnesses, etc. are not needed." Clayton v. State, 946 So.2d 796, 803 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). "A conclusion that the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions is equivalent to a finding that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial sua sponte." Id. (citing Colenburg v. State, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102 (Miss. Ct. App.1999) (Emphasis added). The record in this case does not demonstrate that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial sua sponte because of the quality of defense counsel's representation of Wright and, therefore, does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

With regard to ineffective assistance of counsel claims, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held the following:

In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove (1) that his attorney's overall performance was deficient and (2) that the deficient performance, if any, was so substantial as to prejudice the defendant and deprive him of a fair trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Furthermore, there is a "strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Walters v. State, 720 So.2d 856, 868 (Miss.1998). To overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Schmitt v. State, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss.1990). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. "Only where it is reasonably probable that, but for the attorney's errors, the outcome of the trial would have been different will this Court find the counsel's performance was deficient." Id.

Smiley v. State, 815 So.2d 1140, 1146-47 (Miss.2002) (quoting Gary v. State, 760 So.2d 743, 753

(Miss.2000)) (*Emphasis added*). Moreover, this Court held that "[i]n addition to the presumption that counsel's conduct is reasonably professional, there is a presumption that counsel's decision are strategic in nature, rather than negligent." *Alonso v. State*, 838 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Therefore, in order for a defendant to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel raised on direct appeal, the defendant must show "from the record that his counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficient performance prejudiced him." Walker v. State, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686) (emphasis added). This determination is made based on the "totality of the circumstances." Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 775 (Miss. 1995) (citing Frierson v. State, 606 So.2d 604, 608 (Miss. 1992)). "The target of appellate scrutiny in evaluating the deficiency and prejudice prongs of Strickland is counsel's 'over-all' performance." Id.

Accordingly, Wright must, not only show that his counsel was deficient in each of the areas he alleged, but he also must show how these alleged deficiencies prejudiced his case. In order to prove prejudice, Wright must show from the record that his counsel's "errors were of such a serious magnitude as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial because of a reasonable probability that, but for counselor's unprofessional errors, the results would have been different." *Cole*, 666 So.2d at 775 (quoting *Martin v. State*, 609 So.2d 435, 438 (Miss. 1992)). Wright has failed to meet this burden.

Wright first alleges that his counsel failed to object during jury selection to a sympathetic potential juror. (Appellant's Brief p. 11). Wright also suggests that his counsel was deficient in failing to "conduct proper reciprocal discovery, have introduced into evidence an alibi exhibit and make an offer of proof for the record." (Appellant's Brief p. 12). Both these alleged deficiencies fall under the ambit of trial strategy. The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Smiley v. State*, first noting

that attorneys were given "wide latitude" regarding trial strategy, held that:

This Court gives much deference to an attorney's trial tactics. As this Court has stated: Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. Cf. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 133-134 [102 S.Ct. 1558, 1574-75, 71 L.Ed.2d 783] (1982). A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Lambert v. State, 462 So.2d 308, 316 (Miss.1984), citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d at 694. The right to effective counsel does not entitle the defendant to have an attorney who makes no mistakes at trial. The defendant just has a right to have competent counsel.

815 So.2d at 1148 (quoting *Mohr v. State*, 584 So.2d 426, 430 (Miss.1991)) (Emphasis added). The Court "will only under exceptional circumstances, second guess counsel on matters of trial strategy." Shorter v. State, 946 So.2d 815, 819 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

With regard to counsel's failure to object to juror number 2, there is no evidence that defense counsel was deficient. The law set forth above regarding issue one clearly establishes that juror number 2 was properly allowed on the jury. Moreover, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that decisions regarding whether to "make certain objections falls within the ambit of trial strategy and cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim." Howard v. State, 945 So.2d 326, 357 (Miss. 2006) (quoting Powell v. State, 806 So.2d 1069, 1077 (Miss.2001)) (Emphasis added). Furthermore, Wright provided no insight as to how the results would have been different had these alleged errors not been made by counsel. In other words, Wright wholly failed to address the second prong of Strickland with regard to this alleged error other than to say that "another outcome may have occurred." (Appellant's Brief p. 12). Mere speculation that another outcome may have occurred does not meet the burden required by Strickland. See Mohr v. State, 584 So.2d 426, 430

(Miss.1991) (holding that in order to determine the second prong of prejudice to the defense, the standard is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different" and further holding that this means a "probability sufficient to undermine the confidence in the outcome.")

With regard to counsel's second alleged deficiency, Wright wholly failed to show how this alleged deficiency caused prejudice to his case. Wright was allowed to testify that he was in Augusta, Georgia on March 22, 2004, the day the incident in question took place. (Transcript p. 297). He was further allowed to testify that he knew this because of his daily log book. (Transcript p. 297). However, he was not allowed to introduce the daily log book into evidence. Wright alleges in his brief that this was because the evidence was not properly discovered to the State. (Appellant's Brief p. 13). Wright then stated that his counsel "dropped this theory of the defense and proceeded to try to show reasonable doubt through other means." (Appellant's Brief p. 13). First, as noted above. Wright's counsel's decision not to proceed with this theory was clearly trial strategy to which the Court gives great deference. Second, and most importantly, Wright fails to show how this affected the outcome of his trial. He alleges that the log book proves that he was in Georgia on March 22, 2004. (Appellant's Brief p. 13). However, this does nothing to prove his innocence as he further asserts that the district attorney "placed the date of the crime correctly on the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of March, 2004." (Appellant's Brief p. 13). He then asserts that the events discussed at trial occurred on the night of the 21<sup>st</sup> and the crime occurred on the morning of the 22<sup>nd</sup>, but that the witnesses were incorrectly asked questions about the night of the 22<sup>nd</sup>. (Appellant's Brief p. 13). These allegations and assertions show only that the attorneys mistakenly phrased questions to include the night of the 22<sup>nd</sup> instead of the night of the 21<sup>st</sup>. Thus, even if Wright's log book established that he was, in fact, in Georgia on the 22<sup>nd</sup>, it could do nothing to prove that he did not commit the crime for which he

was convicted. The events occurred in the early morning hours of the 22<sup>nd</sup> thereby leaving him plenty of time to get to Georgia during the latter hours of the 22<sup>nd</sup>. Moreover, Wright never denied getting into bed with his step-daughter and niece. (Transcript p. 299 and 311). He also never denied touching the victim's breast. (Transcript p. 317). He also admitted to apologizing to the victim for touching her breast. (Transcript p. 300). As such, his whereabouts at some unknown time on the 22<sup>nd</sup> of March are inconsequential to whether he is guilty of this crime. Therefore, the failure to have this log book introduced into evidence did not in any way affect the outcome of this trial.

Failure to establish "a reasonable probability that he would have had a better result but for counsel's errors" is failure to satisfy the second prong of *Strickland* and is therefore a failure to establish that he was denied effective assistance of counsel. *See Dahl v. State*, 989 So.2d 910, 914 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Accordingly, Wright was not denied effective assistance of counsel. Thus, his second issue is without merit.

# III. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT AND THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Lastly, Wright questions whether there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict and whether the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The standard of review for these issues is well-established. This Court has previously noted that "[w]hen on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, [the court's] authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is quite limited." *Phinisee v. State*, 864 So.2d 988, 992 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The evidence which is consistent with the verdict must be accepted as true. *Lee v. State*, 469 So.2d 1225, 1229-30 (Miss.1985) (citing *Williams v. State*, 463 So.2d 1064, 1067 (Miss.1984); *Spikes v. State*, 302 So.2d 250, 251 (Miss.1974)). The State must also be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. *Id.* (citing *Glass* 

v. State, 278 So.2d 384, 386 (Miss.1973)). Basically, "once the jury has returned a verdict of guilty in a criminal case, [the court is] not at liberty to direct that the defendant be discharged short of a conclusion on [its] part that the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty."

Id. (citing Fairchild v. State, 459 So.2d 793, 798 (Miss.1984); Pearson v. State, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss.1983)). With this standard in mind, there is sufficient evidence in the case at hand to prove each and every required element of fondling.

Mississippi Code Annotated §97-5-23 defines fondling as follows:

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